# FILED

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE OCT 81 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Devity Clerk

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Appellant,

v.

83805 CASE NO. <del>83,870</del>

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Eric Branch is the Appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of nine volumes. Branch will refer to the record proper with the letter "R" and to the transcript with the letter "T."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Escambia County on February 23, 1993 charged the Appellant, Eric Branch, with one count of first degree murder, one count of sexual battery, and one count of theft of an automobile (R 1-3). Nothing apparently happened in the case for nine months, but in October 1993, Branch' appointed counsel filed 18 motions, most of which are commonly filed in capital cases, and two of which have relevance for this appeal:

Motion to Exclude Evidence or Argument Designed to Create Sympathy for the Deceased (R 91-107)(Denied (T 286)) and Motion to Continue (R 108) (In light of subsequent events, that request must have been granted). Three weeks later, the court also granted a motion by Branch's privately retained counsel that it find him partially indigent (R 109-110).

In the latter part of January 1994, the state filed a notice that it intended to introduce evidence that at the time of the murder there was a warrant for the defendant's arrest, and he took action to avoid it (R 111). On the third of March, Branch sought to strike that notice (R 168), but the court allowed the state to introduce its evidence (R 297). Two days earlier he had also filed motions to continue (R 158-61) and to postpone the penalty phase portion of the defendant' trial (R 162-64). The court denied both requests (R 290).

On March 4, 1994, Branch asked the court to change the venue of his trial. The court refused to do so until they tried to find an acceptable jury panel (R 172-262).

Three days later, Branch went to trial before Judge Edward Nickinson. He was found guilty as charged on all counts (R 318-19). By a vote of 10-2, the jury recommended Branch die (R 334). In the latter part of April, Branch filed a pro-se Motion for New Trial (R 353-54). He also filed a letter he had written the court more than two months earlier complaining about his

lawyer's representation of him (R 355).1

The court followed the jury's recommendation, and in justifying the death sentence it imposed on the defendant, it found in aggravation:

- 1. The murder was committed while Branch committed or attempted to commit a sexual battery.
- 2. Branch had a prior conviction for a violent felony, namely a forcible rape committed in Indiana in 1992.
- 3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

(R 449-52).

In mitigation the court found:

- 1. Branch has expressed remorse for the victim's death.
- 2. He had an unstable childhood.
- 3. He has some positive personality traits.
- 4. He acted appropriately at trial.

(R 452-53).

As to the sexual battery conviction, the court sentenced Branch to life in prison. For the theft conviction, the court imposed a five year prison term. All sentences are to run consecutively (R 453).

This appeal follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Branch's grandfather sent an affidavit to Judge Nickinson on February 22, 1994 also complaining about counsel's representation of Branch (R 338-40). The court filed it and an explanatory memorandum with the clerk on April 13, 1994 (R 341).

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Eric Branch moved to Panama City, Florida from southern Indiana in the first part of November 1992 (T 771). He lived with his cousin, got a job at a local sandwich shop, and made plans to start college the next semester (T 773). About the first of the year he learned that the police in Indiana had issued a warrant for his arrest. Branch both waited to return and tried to hide the car he had driven from that state to delay his arrest (T 774). It was impounded, however, and when his relatives recovered it, Branch took it and drove toward Pensacola (T 777). About six a.m. on the morning of January 9, he checked into a motel in that city and took a short nap. When he awoke, he drove about town, finally stopping at a local club, the Ratskeller, near the University of West Florida campus. He met Melissa Cowden, and the two struck up a friendship that would continue for the next several days.

She took him to her dormitory room where he took a shower, they had sex, and then left (T 784). They went to another club, The Warehouse, because he had been there earlier, liked the music, and had met some members of the band who played there (T 606-607). About eight or nine p.m. they returned to his motel room where they spent the night (T 785).

The next day was Sunday. The pair spent the day trying to find a Western Union so Branch could get some money from his grandfather. They also visited Cowden's friends, and spent Sunday night in her dormitory room (T 785-788).

Monday, while Cowden went to class, Branch wandered around campus. He met her that afternoon, and they agreed to get together later at a club they had gone to over the weekend (T 793). He went to The Warehouse, and while there, he saw a band member he had met a few days earlier named Eric "Peters or St. Peters or St. Pierre." (T 779) They drank some beer and played

pool. During the evening, the defendant told the other Eric that he was wanted in Indiana, and he was so desperate that he thought he should steal a car and return to that state (T 795). The police were looking for him and the Pontiac he had used to drive to Panama City (T 796). His friend told him he could probably hotwire a car, so the pair left the club and tried to find a car to steal (T 797).

They wandered about for a while, eventually discovering a small Toyota Celica in a parking lot on campus. They tried to break into it, but when they noticed someone approaching they backed off and sat on a nearby curb (T 800).

Susan Morris approached her car, and as she started to get in, Branch's friend asked her what time it was. When she turned, he hit her in the head, and she collapsed (T 801). Although Branch had said nothing to Eric about using violence, he helped him carry her into a nearby wooded area (T 802). As both men tried to tie her up, she began to regain consciousness. Eric hit her again, and Branch fell on top of her (T 804). He got up, told Eric that he would let him tie her up because he was going to the car to wait (T 804).

He drove the car, but returned a few minutes later and picked up Eric (T 806). They returned to Cowden's dormitory. While the defendant's friend waited in the car, Branch got him a towel to dry off because he was wet from the mist that had rolled in (T 807). Branch also changed his clothes, socks, and shoes because they were wet (T 598). The two men drove away, eventually parking the car at the Pensacola airport. The pair split up, and Branch returned to the club where he had met Melissa Cowden. The defendant apparently spent the night with her because the next morning he left her room, drove the Pontiac to the airport, left it there, and drove Morris' car back to Panama City (T 814-16).

He intended to have his cousin return to Pensacola with him, pick up the Pontiac, and for him to fly back to Indiana, leaving Morris' car at the airport (T 816). While in Panama City, he tried to get a paycheck from the store he had worked, but when that failed, he borrowed \$20 from another employee (T 820). His grandfather also wired him another \$50, and with that money, he drove back to Indiana (T 821). He ran out of gas at Bowling Green, Kentucky, but since that was only an hour's drive from home, he called his grandfather to come get him (T 822). Before abandoning the car, he wiped it clean of fingerprints (T 848).

He talked with an aunt who told him the police in Panama City had questioned his brother and cousin about Morris' disappearance. Suspecting that they may want to question him as well, Branch talked with his lawyer and then turned himself into the local authorities (T 822-24).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Eric Branch presents nine issues in this capital case for this court to consider, five guilt phase and four penalty phase arguments. Two themes connect several points on appeal. First, Branch challenges the reliability of the jury's verdict because his lawyer had inadequate time to prepare his defense. This surfaces through the first issue's argument that the court should have granted his several requests to continue the trial. Defense counsel assumed responsibility for the defendant's capital trial barely four months before he went to trial. During that time he had two other major cases to prepare, in which one defendant, like Branch, faced a death sentence.

Moreover, he had hired a mitigation specialist only a month before trial who needed several more weeks to complete her investigation of the brain injuries Branch had suffered as a child. While motions to continue generally are left to the trial court's discretion, in this instance the judge abused it when defense counsel, before trial, requested only short delays for specific reasons, the court articulated no reason Branch needed to be tried so soon, and the state never claimed any prejudice if the judge delayed the trial.

Branch realized counsel was not devoting enough time to his case, and several weeks before trial he asked the court to hold a hearing to determine his lawyer's competence. The defendant's grandfather also asked for a similar inquiry at the end of a routine hearing. The court refused to acknowledge any obligation to do so because the lawyer was privately retained.

Yet, the United States Supreme Court has, for Sixth Amendment purposes, refused to find the distinction the trial court made here. Additionally, the court had found Branch partially indigent. Because Branch clearly requested the court conduct the hearing required by Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256, 258-59 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), and it did not, it erred.

A second theme permeating the guilt phase portion of Branch's trial concerns the reliability of the jury's verdict. The state had to depend exclusively on circumstantial evidence to prove Branch and only Branch murdered and sexually battered Susan Morris. While it was free to rely on this type of proof, some special liabilities attached to it. First, because the state's case has a compelling quality, with its use of DNA and the fantastic aura of conclusiveness it presents, the jury should have received special guidance regarding how it should consider circumstantial evidence. That it was not, considering the state's heavy use of scientific evidence to link Branch to the charged crimes, was error.

This mistake only highlights the more basic problem the state faced: it presented no evidence to contradict Branch's reasonable explanation of events. Because the defendant never denied stealing Morris's car and helping carry her to the wooded area around the University of West Florida campus, the state needed more evidence that he murdered her than what the DNA proof supplied. Merely being present at the scene of the crime, but not necessarily when the victim was killed, fails to establish his guilt of her murder and sexual battery.

That the state realized the weakness of its case became evident when it cross examined Branch. It asked him why he had never come forward with his exculpatory story, a violation of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent the court recognized. Undeterred, the state repeatedly harped on that theme during closing argument, but the court refused to recognize the constitutional violations. Such was error.

As part of its penalty phase case, the state introduced a picture of Morris taken at

Christmas showing her holding the sweater she wore when killed. The state justified admitting it

"for no other reason than to make her a human being, I think." Such justification of this victim

impact evidence, however, is foreign to Florida capital sentencings. Section 921.141(7) requires such proof "be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness." This picture did not, and because it had such a high emotional impact, the court's error must result in a new sentencing hearing for Branch.

During the "informal" penalty phase charge conference, Branch asked the court to provide a definition of mitigation, a term used several times in the standard jury instructions but for which the jury had no idea what it meant. The court refused that request. That was error. Without any idea what the law considers as mitigation, the jury was left to wander along paths of its own creation to find a definition for that term. In death penalty sentencing, even little mistakes become reversible error, and a failure of this magnitude demands this court order a new sentencing hearing.

Branch apparently had committed some type of sexual crime in Indiana. The state claimed the "Abstract of judgment" from that state sufficiently proved that offense was one of violence, and therefore it had shown Branch had a prior conviction for a violent crime. The defendant, however, wanted the state to prove that in his case it actually involved violence. The statute under which Indiana had charged him could be read to include acts that in Florida may have been nothing more than lewd and lascivious conduct, which is ostensibly non-violent conduct. In other cases, this court has let the state present evidence that some apparently non violent offense, such as burglary, which the defendant had committed was one laced with violence. Here, Branch argued the flip side of that situation. The prosecutor had to prove that the "sexual battery" Branch had committed in Indiana was violent. The "Abstract of judgment" failed to do so. Branch simply wanted the state to prove this aggravator applied to him.

Finally, the Defendant objected to the state introducing victim impact evidence. While he acknowledges this court's opinion in <u>Windom v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995), he makes two arguments on this issue. First, <u>Windom</u> is wrong. Second, the evidence the state introduced never showed that Susan Morris, as decent and nice a young woman as she was, was unique as the legislature required when it wrote section 921.141(7).

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT BRANCH'S REPEATED REQUESTS TO DELAY THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE PORTIONS OF HIS TRIAL, A DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

The Grand Jury for Escambia County indicted Branch in February 1993 with the murder and sexual battery of Susan Morris and the grand theft of her car (R 01-03). The defendant, however, also faced charges in Panama City, and he was not returned to Pensacola until June (R 142). The Public Defender's office was appointed to represent him, but there is little evidence in the record it did anything until late October other than demand discovery. In that month it filed a flurry of motions, most of which were "form" death penalty requests. One of those, however, asked a continuance (R 108), which the court apparently granted.

In that month, Branch hired private counsel, and until the latter part of January of the next year, he filed only two motions. One of them asked the court declare him partially indigent, which it did (R 110). Another requested a continuance (T 115). He needed more time, he said, for three reasons: 1) when he became Branch's lawyer, he had "very little if any knowledge of the facts of the case," 2) he was conducting discovery in a major drug case at the same time, and 3) he was involved in another capital cast that was scheduled for trial in February (R 115-16). The court granted that motion until March 7 (T 145).

On the last day of February, about a week before trial was scheduled to begin, counsel again asked the court to continue Branch's case (T 158). He needed to prepare for the testimony of a forensic dentist the state planned to call. The court refused to continue the guilt phase

portion of the trial when the state announced it would not call the dentist (T 153-54).

Branch's lawyer also requested the trial judge postpone phase II of the trial, if it became necessary (T 162). He needed more time for the mitigation specialist he had hired to complete her investigation (T 302). Indeed, this person signed an affidavit that she needed several weeks to finish developing Branch's mitigation (R 335). The court summarily refused to give him any more time for her to do that (T 153).

Immediately before the penalty phase portion of Branch's trial began, counsel renewed his request for delay, noting that the mitigation specialist needed to investigate the "three or four incidents of head injuries to Eric." (T 942) When the court pointed out that the specialist had been available since February (the penalty phase started on March 11) and Branch and his family could have helped find the medical records she needed, defense counsel responded that the family may not have recognized Branch's head traumas as a possible significant mitigating factor (T 943). The court denied the request to delay the penalty phase trial, and when it asked counsel if he was ready to proceed, the lawyer responded: "Other than that, we're--we're not prepared to proceed. We will proceed." (T 944)

The court erred in denying Branch's repeated requests to delay has trial. It compounded that mistake by refusing to give the defendant more time to prepare his penalty phase defense.

The law in this area is simple, at least in articulating the standard of review. It is far more difficult in application. A trial court will have erred in denying a defendant's motion to continue if it has abused (or palpably abused) its discretion in making such rulings. Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994); Bouie v. State, 559 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1990). This necessarily implies that this court and other reviewing courts conduct a case specific examination of the facts to insure

the defendant suffered no "undue prejudice" by the trial judge's refusal to give him more time to prepare. Fennie, at 97.

Among the factors this court has considered in determining the amount of prejudice the defendant suffered has been the timing of the request. Mid-trial requests obviously find much less favor with this court than motions made before the trial has started. <u>Id</u>. at 98.

Similarly, if the defendant or his lawyer showed a lack of diligence in preparing his case, and the state has not created the perceived need for more time, the trial court will not have abused its discretion in forcing the defendant to go to trial before he would have wanted. Fennie, at 98.; Bouie, at 1114. Similarly, if defense counsel claimed he needed time to conduct tests, but had the results he needed by trial time, he will have suffered no prejudice just because he may have had to hustle more than he would have wished. Id. Of course, where time is at less a premium, that is, before trial, continuances should be more liberally granted.

This court has, however, been less forgiving of trial court rulings that force the defendant to go to the penalty phase portion of his capital trial before he was ready. In <u>Wike v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992), the defendant asked for a one week delay between the guilt and penalty phase portions of the trial. He needed the extra time so several witnesses could attend his sentencing hearing. This court found the trial court had abused its discretion in not granting the request for more time because Wike had asked for a short delay for a specific reason. <u>Id</u>. at 1025.

Here, Branch, before trial, alerted the trial court about the specific reasons he needed to continue his trial. He had hired a mitigation specialist in February (about a month before trial started). She told him and the court that she needed more time to develop the mitigation in Branch's case. Specifically, Branch had had several head injuries as a child, and such trauma

could have affected his behavior even years later. She needed time to find the records, apparently a difficult task because at least an attending physician had retired (R 335-38). Moreover, those files were in Indiana, and that fact produced some understandable problems (R 116). Also, counsel requested only a four week delay (T 942-43), not one of several months. Thus, counsel, like the one in Wike, requested a delay for a specific, limited time and for a specific reason. The court should have granted his motion to delay the penalty phase portion of his trial, particularly in light of counsel's embarrassing admission that he was unprepared for the penalty phase. "Other than that we're--we're not prepared to proceed. We will proceed." (T 944)

Counsel limped into the penalty phase obviously unprepared. He initially had nothing to present in his client's behalf (T 984). Troubled by this lack of any penalty phase defense, the court made sure Branch understood the reason he had refused to grant any delay.

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