FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 5 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By ______

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 83,805

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL Chief, Capital Appeals Florida Bar #300179

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Although this claim involves an alleged comment upon a defendant's right to silent, the true issue before this Court is

the trial court's denial of Branch's motion for mistrial. This Court has consistently held that the control of a prosecutor's comments is a matter within the trial court's discretion, and that a court's ruling upon a motion for mistrial will not be overturned unless a palpable use of discretion is shown. See, e.g., Watson v. State, 651 So.2d 1159,1163 (Fla. 1994); Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994). The trial court is in the best position to monitor the conduct of the attorneys in its presence, see Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 406, 411 (Fla. 1986), and this Court will consider each case "within the totality of its own special circumstances." Wilson, 651 So.2d at 1663. A mistrial is only appropriate where any error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire proceeding, see Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985), and prosecutorial error alone cannot warrant reversal of a conviction, unless the error committed is so basic to a fair trial that such can never be treated as harmless. <u>See</u> Murrav v. State, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

Judge Nickinson did not abuse his discretion in denying Branch's motion for mistrial, as the prosecutorial argument at issue did not irretrievably taint the proceedings or deprive Appellant of a fair trial. The court below was not insensitive to the consequences of any misstatement in this regard, and the

court's admonition to the prosecutor that he "was on very thin ice" was not inappropriate. However, contrary to opposing counsel's colorful hyperbole, the fairness of the trial did not "crack" under the weight of this remark (Initial Brief at 43), in that it cannot reasonably be said that this remark became the focus of the proceedings or was likely to play a determinative factor in the jury's verdict. As discussed in Point IV, the State presented extensive evidence linking Branch to the crime, and the hypothesis of innocence which he presented was unreasonable, illogical and internally inconsistent. The prosecutor was entitled to point out that the defense, during trial, had changed its position as to the blood evidence, and no new trial is warranted on this point.

Because the statement at issue referred to an admission by the defense made at trial, as opposed to any prior silence on the part of Branch, Appellant's reliance upon <u>Lowry</u> or <u>Shue</u> would seem misplaced; defense counsel's motion for mistrial was predicated upon the prosecutor's reference to the admission, and no other claim of error has been preserved in this regard. <u>See Craig v.</u> <u>State</u>, 510 So.2d 857, 864 (Fla. 1987) ("A motion for mistrial based on certain grounds cannot operate to preserve for appellate review other issues not raised by specific objection at trial."); <u>Finney</u>, 660 So.2d at 683. To the extent that further argument is required,

neither <u>Lowry</u> nor <u>Shue</u> dictate that relief is appropriate, and, indeed, the law in this area is not as "simple" as opposing counsel suggests (Initial Brief at 43).

Lowry itself is a good example of this. Thus, in the original opinion, the Fourth District reversed the conviction at issue, because the prosecutor, in response to the prior defense argument, had pointed out that, prior to the defendant's testimony, he had had no idea what the defendant was going to say. The panel agreed that this comment was directed toward the defendant's credibility, but found itself constrained to reverse under <u>Bennett v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 41, (Fla. 1975); in a concurring opinion, Chief Justice Anstead wrote that he would have found any error harmless.

The State sought this Court's review, and certiorari was granted, and the cause reversed and remanded on the authority of <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), <u>see State v. Lowry</u>, 498 so.2d 427 (Fla. 1986); on remand, however, the Fourth District again reversed the conviction, but in doing so, predicated its ruling in large part upon certain trial testimony (not discussed in the original opinion) which related to Lowry's silence in the face of accusation. <u>Lowry v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The most interesting thing about this case, however, is the dissenting opinion by Justices Boyd and Ehrlich, who held that no

error of any kind had occurred. The dissenting justices found that the prosecutor's argument was not a comment upon Lowry's failure to testify (given the fact that he did) nor a comment upon Lowry's silence during interrogation. Rather, the dissenting justices concluded that the comment "was merely a permissible comment on the credibility of the defendant's testimony"; they likewise held:

> It is only by piling inference on inference that one can conclude that the comment had the effect of informing the jury that the defendant had refused to give the State any information or statement prior to trial. Lowry, 498 So.2d at 428.

The State would respectfully contend that the approach taken by the dissenting justices was the best reasoned approach of all.

There are, however, other Florida cases which have found reversible error under circumstances comparable to Lowry. See State v. Smith, 573 So.2d 306, 316-18 (Fla. 1990); Burgess v. State, 644 So.2d 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Hosper v. State, 513 So.2d 234 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987); Lee v. State, 422 So.2d 928 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), cert. denied, 431 So.2d 989 (Fla. 1983). Nevertheless, there are also Florida cases which specifically approve impeachment of a testifying defendant with, and/or prosecutorial comment upon, a defendant's failure to volunteer exculpatory information. See e.g., Reaser v. State, 356 So.2d 891

(Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. denied, 366 So.2d 884 (Fla. 1978) (not improper for prosecutor to comment upon fact that the defendant had failed to voluntarily go to the police and offer the defense which he later asserted at trial, i.e., that someone else had committed the crime; defendant could be impeached with prearrest silence); Rodriguez v. State, 619 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. denied, 629 So.2d 135 (Fla. 1993) (defendant who testified that shooting was accidental could be impeached with prearrest silence; such specifically found not to violate defendant's right to remain silent under Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 100 S.Ct. 2124, 65 L.Ed.2d 86 (1980)); Parker v. State, 641 So.2d 483, 485 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (once defendant took stand, State could properly prove that his pre-arrest silence was inconsistent with his trial testimony); State v. Thorpe, 653 So.2d 393 (Fla. 5th DCA), cert. denied, 661 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1995) (granting of a new trial reversed, in that defendant could properly be impeached with the fact that he failed to tell his girlfriend exculpatory story which he offered at trial; defendant had invited attack upon credibility by taking the stand.) It is difficult, if not impossible, to square these cases with the blanket holding of Hosper, to the effect that a defendant's failure to offer an exculpatory statement prior to trial can never be the subject of inquiry or comment. Id.

at 235.⁵

Although the State would contend that the Reaser line of cases is the better reasoned, it would not appear necessary for this Court to resolve any conflict, in that, under the particular facts and circumstances of this case, reversible error has not been demonstrated. To the extent that the remarks of the prosecutor now at issue can be read to constitute a "comment" that Branch had not come forward with his exculpatory account earlier, it must be noted that, on cross-examination, Branch had already testified to such fact without objection (T 844). Accordingly, the minimal reference to such matter in the prosecutor's argument, such reference largely by inference, cannot serve as a basis for a new trial. See Wyatt v. State, 578 So.2d 811 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 587 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1991) (where defendant had testified on cross-examination, without objection, to the effect that he had not told others the same story he was presenting at trial, prosecutorial comment upon

⁵ Further, it would appear that the various jurisdictions throughout the country are split on this question, see Annotation, <u>Impeachment of Defendant in Criminal Case By Showing Defendant's Prearrest Silence-State Cases</u>, 35 ALR 4th 731 (1985). While the Supreme Court of the United States specifically approved impeachment of a defendant with pre-arrest silence in <u>Jenkins</u>, and with pre-<u>Miranda</u> silence in <u>Fletcher v. Weir</u>, 455 U.S. 603, 102 S.Ct. 1309, 71 L.Ed.2d 490 (1982), the Court found it to be improper, but harmless error, for the State to have referred generally to a defendant's failure to come forward with his version of events prior to trial, in <u>Brecht v. Abrahamson</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993). The <u>Shue</u> case relied upon by Branch is similarly not illustrative on this point.

such testimony in closing argument, at most, harmless error under <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)); <u>Whitton v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 861, 865 (Fla. 1994) (same). This case is indistinguishable from <u>Wyatt</u> or <u>Whitton</u>, and no reasonable possibility exists that the comment at issue contributed to Branch's conviction.

Further, in assessing any prejudice, it must be noted that, in contrast to <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 594 So.2d 254, 257-8 (Fla. 1991), this case did not involve a situation in which the State drew the jury's attention to the fact that the defendant did not testify at trial; any error was found to be harmless in Dailey. Likewise, in contrast to Heath v. State, 648 So.2d 660, 663 (Fla. 1994), this case did not involve a situation in which the State, in opening statement, virtually promised that the defendant would testify; any error was found to be harmless in <u>Heath</u>. Rather, this case represents a situation in which the defendant did testify, and, such being the case, the State was entitled to legitimately comment upon the testimony which he actually presented. Cf. Parker, 641 So.2d at 485 (in closing argument, prosecutor could properly comment upon defendant's lack of zeal in denying guilt, while testifying).

Given the fact that Branch's jury heard nothing of his arrest

(other than the fact that he had voluntarily surrendered), and likewise were never advised as to whether or not he had in fact been advised of his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed.2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966) (or any reaction of his thereto), it would be patently unreasonable to presume that the prosecutorial argument at issue was reasonably susceptible to constituting a comment of any kind upon Branch's exercise of his constitutional rights. Further, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury would have construed the prosecutor's argument as "penalizing" Branch for any exercise thereof, and in light of, inter alia, the substantial "permissible" evidence of Branch's quilt, discussed in Point IV, infra, any error in this case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under State v. DiGuilio. <u>See</u> Whitton, supra; Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 653-4 (Fla. 1981); Perri v. State, 441 So.2d 666, 607 (Fla. 1983) (principle of law set form in § 924.33, to the effect that no judgment shall be reversed unless any error committed injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant, applicable in capital cases). The instant convictions and sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT VI

ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE, AT THE PENALTY PHASE, OF A PHOTOGRAPH OF THE VICTIM WAS NOT ERROR.

As his first attack upon his sentence of death, Branch contends that it was reversible error for the court to have allowed the admission into evidence, at the penalty phase, of a particular photograph of the victim. Appellant maintains that this photograph "served only to inflame the jury and arouse their animosity towards the defendant" (Initial Brief at 47), and suggests that § 921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992) should have governed the admission of this evidence.

It must immediately be noted that, in contrast to traditional claims involving photographs in capital cases, the photograph at issue is not alleged to be unduly gruesome, and does not relate to an autopsy or blood-soaked murder scene. <u>Cf.</u>. <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 655 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1995); <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985). In dealing with claims of error of that nature, this Court had traditionally upheld the admission of such photographs, and, indeed, in <u>Henderson</u> observed, "Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted with photographs of their accomplishments." Rather, in this case, Branch complains of the admission into evidence of a photograph of

the victim, in life, which simply shows her with the sweater which she wore at the time of the murder. While the State fully agrees that a verdict is "an intellectual task to be performed on the basis of the applicable law and facts," <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Fla. 1990), Appellee cannot see why a defendant such as Branch, who has already been convicted of murder, should not expect to be confronted with at least some evidence of what his victim was like, before she had the fatal misfortune to encounter him, and become the "work product" depicted in other photographs.

The record in this case indicates that, at the penalty phase, the State called both of the victim's parents, who testified about Susan Morris, such testimony the subject of Point IX, <u>infra</u> (T 962-9). While it was apparently the State's original intention to introduce this photograph through the testimony of David Morris, this was not done. Further, contrary to the representation in the Initial Brief (Initial Brief at 49), the photograph was not admitted immediately after the testimony of this witness, but rather at the conclusion of the State's case, and, at such time, was not shown to the jury (T 977-1016). During his closing argument, the prosecutor showed this photograph to the jury, and defense counsel objected (T 1016-19). Although the objection was overruled (T 1019), the prosecutor made no other reference to the

photograph, and, indeed, specifically cautioned the jury not to make their decision "based on bias or sympathy for anyone." (T 1019).

Under the facts and circumstances of this case, it is clear that no basis exists to reverse Branch's sentence. As this Court observed in Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986), jurors empaneled for capital sentencing proceedings should not be expected "to make wise and reasonable decisions in a vacuum," and when the United States Supreme Court reversed its prior decision, Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), in Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 826, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 113 L.Ed.2d 720, 735 (1991), the Court rejected the view that the victim of a capital crime should be turned into a "faceless stranger" at the penalty proceeding. While it cannot be denied that, in certain prosecutions, victim impact evidence may be afforded undue prominence, it cannot be said that the prosecutor's brief usage of the victim's photograph during closing argument in this case deprived Branch of a fair penalty proceeding.

The jury was entitled to know something of the life which Appellant chose to snuff out, and, in order for them to make a reasoned moral judgment as to the sentence to recommend, it was not inappropriate for them to fully appreciate the gravity of Branch's

offense. Even if error is perceived, such is harmless, and the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects. <u>Cf.</u>. <u>Allen v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 323, 327-8 (Fla. 1995) (admission of photograph of victim with grandchild no basis for reversal; victim impact evidence properly admitted); <u>Windom</u>, 656 So.2d at 438 (erroneous admission of victim impact evidence harmless error); <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1361, 1367 (Fla. 1984) (prosecutor's brief humanizing remarks concerning victim, during penalty phase closing argument, no basis for reversal).

POINT VII

DENIAL OF BRANCH'S REQUESTED PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTION, CONCERNING MITIGATION, WAS NOT ERROR.

Appellant next contends that reversible error occurred in the denial of his special requested penalty phase jury instruction on mitigation. The record, in fact, reflects that the defense proposed an instruction "defining mitigation," which was denied (R 328, T 1011); such requested instruction reads in its entirety:

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